
PLANNING, REGULATORY AND 
LICENSING

5.00 PM WEDNESDAY, 31ST OCTOBER, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that this meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via the Authority’s 
Internet Site. 

 
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members 

of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and 
sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the 
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

OPEN SESSION

Planning Applications  -  Recommendations under the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning and Compensation Act 
1991

3. P/18/0199 - 34 Clos Penderyn, Ynysfach, Merthyr 
Tydfil 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 5 - 10

4. P/18/0257  -  Land North Of Pant Industrial Estate, 
Bryniau Road, Pant, Merthyr Tydfil 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 11 - 20

Information Reports

5. Appeal Received  -  P/18/0179 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 21 - 22

6. Appeal Received  -  P/18/0192 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 23 - 24

7. Delegated Report 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 25 - 28

8. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillors  H Barrett (Chair) 
                    C Tovey (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:  J Amos, D Chaplin, M Colbran, 
E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, C T Jones, G Lewis, J Thomas 
and S Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

DATE WRITTEN 18th October 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Marlene Ferreira 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 31st October 2018 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/18/0199 21st August 2018 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Change of use from dwelling (C3 
use class) to house of multiple 
occupation (HMO)(C4 use class) 
(Retrospective Application) 

34 Penderyn Close 
Ynysfach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1AS 
 

Mr D O'Brien  
c/o Viv Jones 
114 Brecon Road 
Hirwaun 
RCT 
CF44 9NS    

 
 

 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Councillor Chaplin has requested that this application be reported to committee in 
order to consider the concerns of local residents, such as additional parking 
requirements and highway safety.   
 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
The application site relates to a three storey end of terrace dwelling, 34 Penderyn 
Close, in Ynysfach. The dwelling, a corner plot and sited between Penderyn Close 
and Meadow Close, is served by an enclosed rear garden. The property is served by 
two parking spaces (1 parking space in a garage and the other to the front of the 
garage) located in a parking forecourt to the south of the property. The property was 
formerly used as a single dwelling (C3 use class), but has been used as a house of 
multiple occupation (HMO) (C4 use class) since July 2016.    
 
The property lies in a residential estate and is therefore surrounded by residential 
properties of different scales and sizes. It is located within the settlement boundary – 
Primary Growth Area, as designated within the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development 
Plan 2006-2021.  
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT  
 
This application seeks retrospective planning permission to change the use of the 
property from a 4 bedroom dwelling to a 4 bedroom HMO. HMOs (falling within use 
class C4) are defined in the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
(Amendment) (Wales) Order 2016 as shared houses or flats occupied by between 
three and six unrelated individuals who share basic amenities and occupy the 
property as their main residence.   
 
The change of use has not resulted in any external or internal alterations to the 
property. The two parking spaces are used in association with the HMO. The 
applicant has confirmed that since it has been used as a HMO (since July 2016), 4 
people have been living at the property.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY  
 
There is no recent planning history relevant to this application.   
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader    No objection. 
 
Environmental Health Manager      No response. 
 
 PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to the adjoining properties and a 
site notice was displayed within the vicinity of the premises.  
 

Page 6



A petition with 28 signatures and 11 letters of representation have been received 
which, in summary, raise the following concerns: 
 

- A HMO will be disruptive in this small estate of family housing and there is 
concern over the people who would reside in the property; 

- The property’s siting on a corner plot results in kerbside parking to the side of 
the dwelling which limits access and manoeuvring for other vehicles including 
emergency vehicles. Parking to the front of the property also increase 
congestion and parking issues in the area and puts the safety of pedestrians 
and children (who regularly play in the area) at risk;  

- The proposed development, if approved, would set a precedent for further 
HMO’s to be allowed in an area where properties and road networks have not 
been prepared for such uses;  

- Every house on the estate has 1 allocated parking space. To state that the 
application property has 3 is misleading. The information provided by the 
applicant on the application forms, in respect of the commencement of 
development and parking provision on the application site is incorrect;  

- The property has already been running as a HMO for over 12 months and has 
not been registered with Rent Smart Wales;  

- It is disappointing that only one site notice was displayed on a lamp post 
opposite the property and we would expect a wider consultation to residents;   

- 5-10 cars will park outside the property, depending on whether one or two 
people occupy a room; 

- Approving this application would devalue properties in this area even further;  
- Congestion is so significant that the refuse lorry has difficulties gaining access 

throughout the estate during its weekly pick up; 
- This housing development was meant to be a ‘home zone’ and additional 

parking will increase the risks for families residing in the area; 
- Would the tenants be liable to pay for the management company, since this 

payment is per household;  
- Parking is particularly bad in the evening, outside working hours and the 

officer most likely visited the site during working times. Additional parking 
should be provided within the rear garden area of the property, should 
permission be granted. 

- This property has been reported due to anti-social problems and if this 
application is permitted, this will intensify problems in the area;  

- The application description should refer to retrospective consent.       
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Local Policies  
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 
Policy BW1 – Development Strategy – Primary Growth Area 
Policy BW4 – Settlement boundaries/locational constraints 
Policy BW7 – Sustainable design and placemaking 
Policy BW12 – Development proposals and transport 
Policy TB11 – Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 
 

Page 7



Other Guidance:  
 
Welsh Government Guidance: Houses in Multiple Occupation: Practice Guidance 
(February, 2016) 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The main issues to consider in the assessment of this application relate to whether 
the principle of the development is acceptable in this location and whether it would 
be an appropriate development in respect of its impact upon the character and 
appearance of the area, the residential amenity of neighbouring properties, parking 
provision and highway safety.  
 
Principle of Development 
 
The proposed development seeks to change the use of a 4 bedroom dwelling into a 
4 bedroom HMO. Given that the property lies within the settlement boundary and 
seeks to continue to provide a residential use (albeit of a different nature), it would 
be acceptable provided it complies with other relevant policies. The proposed 
development, in principle, would therefore comply with LDP Policy BW4.  
 
Character and Appearance  
 
The proposed change of use would not involve any alterations to the exterior or 
interior of the property. Therefore, this proposal in terms of visual impact would not 
have an adverse impact on the appearance of the property or the character of the 
wider area. Whilst it is appreciated that properties occupied by non-family 
households have the potential to change the character of an area (i.e. damage social 
cohesion with higher levels of transient residents), it cannot be argued that a single 
HMO (which has been operating since 2016) has led to an over-concentration of 
HMOs causing significant harm such that planning permission should be withheld on 
this basis. As such, the proposal complies with LDP Policy BW7.  
 
Residential Amenity 
 
In terms of the impact on residential amenity (i.e. noise and disturbance and 
overlooking from existing windows) it is not considered that the proposal would be 
significantly different to the existing use. There would be no additional overlooking 
from first floor windows and any noise and disturbance would be similar to that 
expected from a 4 bedroom house. Indeed, the responsibility for dealing with anti-
social behaviour is shared between a number of agencies, particularly the Police, 
local authorities (e.g. Public Health and Protection) and social landlords. The 
proposed development therefore complies with LDP Policy BW7.    
 
Parking and Highway Safety 
 
Whilst the parking and highway safety concerns of residents are fully appreciated 
and it could be argued that some HMOs may increase the demand for on-street 
parking, in this case, any increase would not be sufficient enough to cause any 
highway safety concerns.  

Page 8



 
A 4 bedroom house for example could be occupied by a large family with a number 
of vehicles. For example, both parents could have a car and their children could also 
have a car each. Likewise, a HMO could be occupied by residents who either do or 
do not own a car. Nevertheless, when compared to the permitted use (i.e. a four 
bedroom dwelling), a single HMO in this street would not increase the demand for 
on-street parking to a level that would cause an adverse impact on the free flow of 
traffic or highway and pedestrian safety. It is noted that the Engineering and Traffic 
Group Leader has not objected to this application. The proposed use would therefore 
comply with LDP Policies BW12 and TB11.    
 
Responses to Representations  
 
Some of the concerns raised by local residents have been considered above. Other 
concerns raised are addressed below: 
 

-  The loss of value of residential properties is not a material planning 
consideration;  

   
-  Any further applications in this area for a change of use to a HMO would need 

to be considered on their own merits.  
 
-  The application form, plans and description of development were amended. 

This confirmed that the off street parking provision serving the property was in 
fact 2 and not 3 spaces. It also confirmed that the use had been operating since 
July 2016. The description of development also included the reference 
‘retrospective’. Adjoining neighbours were re-consulted on the amended plans 
and application form and an amended site notice was displayed on-site; 

 
-  The fact that the applicant has not registered with Rent Smart Wales, is not a 

material planning consideration; 
 
-   In consulting adjoining neighbours and displaying a notice near the site, the 

local planning authority has complied with the relevant legislation.  
 
-  Issues regarding the fee’s payable to the management company would not be a 

material planning consideration; 
 
-  The applicant has not proposed any additional parking within the rear garden of 

the property. The application has therefore been considered in respect of the 
submitted plans and information.   

  
Conclusion  
 
This application has been carefully considered in respect of each of the issues that 
the application raises and it is noted that the majority of objections received relate to 
the likely impact this proposal would have on parking provision and highway safety 
issues within the locality. However, for the reasons stated above, it is considered that 
the proposal complies with the relevant LDP policies and as such is considered 
acceptable.  

Page 9



 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been 
taken into consideration when determining this application. In this respect, it is noted 
that the Council’s Local Development Plan puts sustainability at its core.  Delivering 
a mix of quality housing through the re-use of vacant buildings or brownfield land, 
within existing settlements, is key.  The ways of working set out at section 5 of the 
WBFG Act have been considered and thus the proposal is in accordance with the 
sustainable development principle through its contribution towards one or more of 
the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as required by section 8 of the 
WBFG Act. 
 
 
Accordingly the following recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS: 
 
 
 
 
 1. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and documents:  
  
 - Drawing no: 2619 Rev C, received 21st August 2018 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define 

the scope of the permission. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 
            

 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 18th October 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 31st October 2018 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/18/0257 3rd September 2018 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Residential development Land North Of Pant 

Industrial Estate 
Bryniau Road 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Suffolk Life Trustees  
c/o Viv Jones 
114 Brecon Road 
Hirwaun 
RCT 
CF44 9NS    

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to an area of land that is broadly triangular in shape measuring 
approximately 0.89 of a hectare. The northern boundary of the site (158m in length) 
provides a prominent frontage onto the main highway (Bryniau Road), with the open 
countryside beyond, which forms part of the Merthyr Common. To the south-east of the site 
is Pant Industrial Estate, with a car park, commercial building and associated external 
storage area, which immediately abuts the boundary. There is also an existing palisade 
gate which provides access from the application site into the industrial estate. To the south-
west, the site is bound partly by an enclosed basketball court and vacant land with playing 
fields beyond. 
 
The site itself comprises a large area of open grassland that is enclosed partly by a post 
and wire fence and palisade fencing. The land slopes down from the north to the south with 
a steep embankment along the northern boundary. There are no significant features within 
the site other than a small number of bushes and a few mature trees adjacent to the 
southern boundary. 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Outline planning permission is sought for the residential development of the site. All matters 
relating to access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale have been reserved for 
future consideration. As such, it is only the principle of the development which is to be 
determined. 
 
An indicative layout plan has been submitted in support of this application which illustrates 
a potential scheme for 33 dwellings, comprising 18 two storey semi-detached dwellings and 
15 three storey terraced properties. The scale parameters for each dwelling have been 
provided, which indicates the semi-detached dwellings would measure between 4.5m to 
7.5m wide by 7.5m to 10m deep and 7m to 9.5m high. The terraced properties would 
measure between 4.5m to 6.5m wide by 7m to 9.5m deep and 7m to 11.5m high. 
 
It is suggested on the indicative layout plan that the terraced properties would be located 
along the northern boundary of the site with a frontage onto the main highway. Due to the 
changes in levels, these properties could be three storeys with integral garages provided at 
the lower ground floor level. Access to the garages could then be from within the site via a 
new service road. The semi-detached dwellings could be accommodated along the south-
west boundary, partly along the south-east boundary and at the centre of the site. It is 
indicated that these properties could then front onto a new internal access road serving the 
development. 
 
The layout plan and Design and Access Statement suggest a possible landscaping 
approach. This essentially involves planting along the south-west and south-east 
boundaries, which could also help to screen the adjoining industrial estate. An area of open 
space is also indicated in the southern corner of the site, where a drainage swale could be 
provided. 
 
It is shown on the indicative plan that the access into the site would be from Bryniau Road 
with the potential for a new stacking lane to be provided, to minimise any impact on the free 
flow of traffic. A new road (measuring 5.5m wide with a 2m wide footpath on either side) 

Page 12



would extend through the centre of the site. A service road (measuring 4.5m wide with a 2m 
wide footpath along one side) could also be provided to enable access to the terraced 
properties, along with a turning area and visitor parking adjacent to the south-east boundary 
of the site. The existing pedestrian link into the industrial estate could also be retained as 
part of the development. 
 
In support of this application the following documents have been submitted: 
 

 Pre-application Consultation Report 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

 Access Appraisal 

 Coal Mining Risk Assessment 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
There is no relevant planning history relating to this site. 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic 
Group Leader   - No objection subject to conditions relating to the  

access/highway works, retaining works, ground 
investigation, drainage and parking. 

 
Planning Division’s 
Policy Group Leader  - No objection subject to a condition to secure  

on-site affordable housing contribution. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Countryside Officer   - No objection subject to a condition relating to the  

clearance of the site. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Landscaping Officer   - Concerns have been raised in respect of the layout  

of the development, the scale of the dwellings, 
appropriate boundary treatments and the provision 
of open space with drainage attenuation. 

 
Environmental Health  
Manager    - No response. 
 
South Wales Police   - Concerns have been raised due to parts of the site  

would be devoid of natural surveillance with the 
service road, visitor parking and drainage swale 
not being properly overlooked by the proposed 
properties. 

 
Welsh Water    - No objection subject to a condition for a drainage  

Page 13



scheme for the disposal of surface water and land 
drainage. 

 
Wales & west Utilities  - No objection. 
 
Western Power Distribution - No response. 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to neighbouring properties on the 22nd August 2018 
and four site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site on the 24th August 2018. 
Additionally, a notice was advertised in the local newspaper on the 30th August 2018. 
 
No representations were received as a result of this publicity exercise. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
The following policies are relevant in the determination of this application: 
 
National planning policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 9, November 2016: 
 
Para 4.9.1 supports proposals on previously developed land which promotes sustainability 
objectives. 
 
Para’s 4.11.9 – 4.11.12 set out the principles of good design in new development 
proposals, which should take into account its relationship to its surrounding context. Regard 
should be given to the appropriate scale, appearance, landscaping and quality of building 
design and should also be accessible for all. Local Authorities are encouraged to reject 
poor building and contextual designs. 
 
Para’s 5.5.1 – 5.5.3 note that the impact a development proposal may have on wildlife or 
the landscape is an important consideration in determining applications. Where ever 
possible adverse effects on the environment should be avoided or acceptably minimised. 
 
Para 8.7.1 sets out the criterion that should be considered where transport implications may 
occur, such as impacts on local travel demand, public transport provision, accessibility and 
highway safety. 
 
Para 9.1.2 promotes sustainable residential environments with greater emphasis on quality, 
good design and the creation of places to live that are safe and attractive. Development 
proposals should also provide attractive landscapes around dwellings, with usable open 
space and have regard to biodiversity, nature conservation and flood risk. 
 
Para 9.3.1 – 9.3.4 indicates new housing developments should be well integrated with its 
local context and not cause damage to the area’s character or amenity. High quality design 
and landscape standard are also important considerations.  
 

Page 14



Technical Advice Notes (TAN) 
 

 TAN 5, Nature Conservation and Planning, September 2009 

 TAN 18, Transport, March 2007 

 TAN 12, Design, March 2016 

 TAN 12, Guidance on Design and Access Statements, March 2016 
 

Local planning policy  
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 

 BW1 - Development Strategy - Primary Growth Area 

 BW4 - Settlement boundaries / locational constraints 

 BW5 - Natural heritage 

 BW6 - Built heritage 

 BW7 - Sustainable design and place making 

 BW8 - Development and the water environment 

 BW12 - Development proposals and transport 

 BW17 - Securing community infrastructure benefits 

 AS4 - Historic landscape 

 AS22 - Affordable housing contributions  

 TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 
 

 SPG 1 - Affordable Housing, March 2012 

 SPG 2 - Planning Obligations, March 2012 

 SPG 4 - Sustainable Design, July 2013 

 SPG 5 - Nature and Development, May 2015 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Land use 
 
The application site is located within the settlement boundary and Primary Growth Area as 
defined by policies BW1 and BW4 of the LDP, where the majority of new development is 
generally encouraged. Whilst the development would adjoin an established industrial 
estate, the proposal would be situated close to the main residential area of Pant, which is 
also located opposite the industrial estate i.e. Heol Rhyd Y Bedd. As such, the principle of 
residential development is acceptable and the compatibility between the proposed 
residential and existing industrial uses could be achieved. This would be subject to careful 
consideration of the future design, layout, landscaping and boundary treatment of the 
development. 
 
Design 
 
Where matters relating to the layout have been reserved for future consideration, it is 
necessary as part of an outline proposal to provide an indicative layout plan to demonstrate 
that the site can be appropriately developed. Whilst the layout may be subject to change as 

Page 15



part of a reserved matters application, it is nonetheless appropriate to consider whether the 
indicative approach adequately demonstrates that the development could achieve a good 
design. 
 
The Design and Access Statement (DAS) is also a tool to essentially explain the key 
principles that would inform the general design and layout of the development. In this 
respect, the indicative layout plan is a manifestation of how those key design principles 
could be implemented on the site i.e. how the development could integrate with its 
surroundings, key frontages, the arrangement of private spaces and communal areas. 
Although the DAS provides a brief description of the site characteristics, there is little 
analysis of the local context and how the development would seek to integrate with its 
immediate surroundings. Nor are there clear principles to explain the design approach to 
the development of the site. 
 
It would appear from the layout plan that there is an intention to provide a prominent 
frontage onto Bryniau Road in the form of terraced properties, which would follow a similar 
pattern of development further along the highway to the north-east. In response to the 
change in levels, with the highway being elevated above the site, the indicative sections 
suggest the ground floor levels of the terraced properties (Plots 19-32) could be raised, to 
incorporate a garage at the lower ground level. However, in order to gain access to these 
garages, it would require vehicles to traverse the length of the rear garden areas.  
 
The layout elsewhere within the site appears to be largely informed by the need to provide 
a suitable means of access with appropriate gradients. Taking into account the topography, 
the semi-detached dwellings on plots 1- 12 are logically suggested in rows along the south-
west and south-east boundaries, where they could gradually step down and front onto the 
new access road. Additionally, it would appear that dwellings have been avoided in the area 
immediately next to the industrial unit that abuts part of the south-east boundary, to 
minimise potential impacts on residential amenity. 
 
There are concerns with the potential siting of dwellings at the centre of the site. It has been 
demonstrated on the layout plan that the dwellings on plots 13-18 could be positioned a 
sufficient distance away from the neighbouring properties to avoid overlooking concerns. A 
frontage on to the access road could also be provided to reinforce the streetscene opposite 
plots 9-12. However, in doing so, the semi-detached dwellings (plots 13-18) and the 
terraced properties (plots 19-33) would both back on to the service road creating dead 
frontages on either side of the carriageway. The streetscene along this section of the site 
would consequently be dominated by a combination of high boundary fences to secure 
private garden areas and parked vehicles. Furthermore, this part of the development, 
including the visitor parking bays adjacent to the turning area, would lack any reasonable 
natural surveillance. This poor relationship between plots would create a visually harmful 
and unwelcoming residential environment. 
 
It is suggested on the layout plan that an area of open space could be created in the 
southern corner of the site, which could be utilised to provide a drainage swale. There is no 
clear indication in the DAS to explain why this part of the site was chosen to accommodate 
an area of public space. Nor are there details to help explain how the swale would 
complement a sustainable drainage scheme (SUD) for the development, which may 
otherwise inform its potential location. Although the provision of an area of public space and 
the incorporation of a SUD scheme is welcomed, the layout plan fails to demonstrate how 

Page 16



this could form an integral part of the development. Indeed, as illustrated on the layout plan, 
the public space would be poorly overlooked, which raises concerns with the potential for 
this space to attract anti-social behaviour. 
 
It is acknowledged that the Landscape Architect has raised concerns in relation to the 
layout of the development. In this respect, it has been suggested that a soft boundary 
treatment along the main highway would be a more appropriate response on the border of 
the open countryside. The Landscape Architect has also suggested that the open space 
would be better located within a more centralised area of the site to add setting and 
character to the development. This would also enable it to form an integral part of the 
proposal. 
 
Furthermore, it is acknowledged that the South Wales Police have also commented on the 
poor layout of the proposal, which would render various parts of the site vulnerable to anti-
social behaviour. This is particularly due to the poor orientation of the buildings in relation to 
the public realm, resulting in a lack of suitable natural surveillance. 
 
Given the sloping nature of the site, the proposed scale of the dwellings is acceptable in 
principle. However, any buildings close to the main highway should maintain a two storey 
appearance in order to be consistent with other properties in the vicinity. The development 
has the greatest potential to impact on the character from the main highway due to the 
length of the frontage and its prominence. However, there remains scope within the 
application site to present a residential scheme of a modern design. 
 
Overall, there are a number of concerns with the indicative layout, which fails to adequately 
demonstrate how the development of the site can achieve an appropriate design. It should 
be noted that the concerns highlighted above were previously raised as part of a pre-
application response (PA/18/0033). However, the main issues in respect of street frontages 
and the location of the public open space have not been addressed. Considerable 
alterations may be required to enable a more suitable layout, which may impact on the 
number of residential units, key frontages and the arrangement of public/private spaces. 
Therefore, the indicative layout does not adequately demonstrate how the development 
would meet the requirements of policy BW7 of the LDP, which seeks to secure good quality 
sustainable design. 
 
Highways 
 
The Access Appraisal submitted in support of the application, indicates that the potential 
point of access into the site from Bryniau Road, is a sufficient distance (97m) away from the 
junction onto Heol Rhyd Y Bedd. Additionally, the new junction onto Bryniau Road could be 
constructed with appropriate visibility splays of 2.4m by 51m in both directions. It suggests 
that a right-turn lane could be provided on Bryniau Road to store traffic waiting to turn into 
the site. However, the report also concludes that the anticipated level of traffic generated by 
the proposed development would be modest and unlikely to have a material impact on the 
operation of the surrounding highway network. As such, it would appear that the need for a 
right-turn lane is unnecessary. 
 
It has been demonstrated that the new roads to serve the development can be 
accommodated within the site to meet adoptable standards, in terms of the carriageway 
widths, the provision of footpaths and turning facilities. Additionally, at least 2 parking 

Page 17



spaces could be provided on each plot with designated areas incorporated for visitor 
parking. It is acknowledged that the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has raised no 
adverse highway safety concerns, subject to further details being provided as part of a 
reserved matters application. Therefore the proposal complies with policy BW12 and TB11 
of the LDP. 
 
Environment 
 
The proposal lies within 10 metres (south-east) of the Bryniau Site of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINC 2), with the development being separated by the main highway. A 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (EA) has been submitted in support of the application, 
which concludes that the site is overall of low/negligible ecological value. The habitats 
within the site are noted in the EA to be common and widespread with optimal conditions 
for reptiles. Accordingly, a method statement for the progressive clearance of vegetation 
within the site is proposed in order to avoid any harm to reptiles, in this case potentially 
Slow Worms, Grass Snakes, Common Lizards and Adders. The Planning Division’s 
Countryside Officer has indicated that a suitable survey of the site has been carried out and 
that the recommendations to manage any reptiles on the site are appropriate, which should 
be secured by condition. Furthermore, the Planning Division’s Countryside Officer 
acknowledges that there are Great Crested Newt habitats known within the adjacent SINC. 
However, the development is unlikely to have an impact on these habitats due to the 
intervening highway and the location of these habitats away from the site. Therefore, the 
proposal would not have a significant ecological impact and would comply with policy BW5 
of the LDP. 
 
Ground conditions 
 
The application site is located in an area identified by The Coal Authority to be at low risk 
from past coal mining activities. Notwithstanding this, a Coal Mining Risk Assessment has 
been submitted in support of the application. It is concluded in the report that the risk from 
past coal mining activities is low and that no significant ground stability issues have been 
identified. However, the report recommends that an intrusive site investigation be carried 
out to inform an appropriate design for the foundations. 
 
Planning obligations 
 
Policies BW17 and AS22 of the LDP consider the requirements for planning obligations and 
affordable housing respectively. In order to ensure the delivery of affordable housing across 
the County Borough, Policy AS22 seeks, on sites where 10 or more dwellings are proposed 
within the Primary Growth Area, the provision of 10% on-site affordable housing. Based on 
the indicative layout, this could amount to the provision of 3 affordable houses. In this 
respect, the Planning Division’s Policy Group Leader has not raised any objection, subject 
to a condition to ensure that an adequate affordable housing scheme is provided as part of 
a reserved matters application. Therefore, the proposal would comply with policies Bw17 
and AS22 of the LDP. 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, 
in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being 

Page 18



of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been taken into 
consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following recommendation, 
the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been considered and thus 
the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its 
contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as 
required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Whilst the principle of developing the site for residential purposes is acceptable, the 
submitted details fail to demonstrate that the layout of the proposal could achieve an 
adequate design. Therefore the proposal runs contrary to the objectives of policy BW7 of 
the LDP, which seeks to secure good quality sustainable design. Accordingly, the following 
recommendation is made: 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE REFUSED for the following REASON: 
 
 
 
 
 1. It has not been adequately demonstrated that the site can be developed in a way 

which effectively integrates with both the internal and surrounding environments. 
There is insufficient evidence to suggest that the development could provide 
appropriate active street scenes with integrated public open spaces. As such the 
proposal would fail to create a good quality, well designed and safe environment 
contrary to Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL RECEIVED  
 

DATE WRITTEN 17th October 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Rebecca Owens 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 31st October 2018 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/18/0179 14.06.2018 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Erect two storey side extension 
and new front porch 

16 Dan-Y-Parc View 
Incline Top 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0GF 

Mr & Mrs Garcia 
C/O Mr Steven George 
George & Co 
Hwyl Hub 
1st Floor Woodfired Studios 
62 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DE 

 

 

 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/D/18/3212440 
DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  04 October 2018 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL RECEIVED  
 

DATE WRITTEN 17th October 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Rebecca Owens 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 31st October 2018 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/18/0192 27.09.2018 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Construct two bedroom 
bungalow with associated 
access, parking provision and 
amenity space 

Land Opposite  
8 Railway Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Mr D Stevens 
2 Railway Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0YB 

 

 

 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/18/3212310 
DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  27 September 2018 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION 
 

DELEGATED DECISION REPORT LIST:  1st - 30th September 2018 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/18/0065 The Willows  
Abercanaid Industrial 
Estate 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YF 
 

Construction of 16 storage 
units with associated 
changes to access and 
boundary fence 

Full Approval 04/09/2018 

P/18/0223 112 Brecon Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8NG 
 

Remove condition 2 and vary 
condition 3 of Planning 
Permission P/14/0282 to 
enable the premises to 
operate as an unrestricted A3 
use (food and drink) and to 
open until 11 pm and 
installation of cooking 
extraction system with 
associated screen 
 

Refusal 03/09/2018 

P/18/0224 8 Cyfarthfa Rise 
Brecon View Park 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1BE 
 

Erect two storey side 
extension and two storey rear 
extension 

Full Approval 21/09/2018 

P/18/0227 Pen Y Dre High School 
Goitre Lane 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9BY 
 

Variation of condition 2 of 
planning permission 
P/02/0310 to extend the 
period of time that floodlights 
can be illuminated from 9.00 
pm to 9.30 pm 

Full Approval 12/09/2018 

P/18/0229 Land To The North Of 
Former Unigate Dairies 
Ltd 
Abercanaid Industrial 
Estate 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Change of use from vacant 
(undeveloped land) to B2/B8 
use 

Full Approval 20/09/2018 

  

DATE WRITTEN 17th October 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Various 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 31st  October 2018 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/18/0230 Former Public Toilets 
Cardiff Road 
Edwardsville 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Change of use of former public 
toilet to domestic store to 
include external alterations 

Full Approval 25/09/2018 

P/18/0231 4 Trevor Close 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2BG 
 

Single storey rear extension and 
new decking area 

Full Approval 24/09/2018 

P/18/0233 Land Adjacent To  
17 The Grawen 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Demolition of existing garage 
and construction of new garage 
to be used for storage in 
connection with The Grawen 
Arms Public House 
(retrospective) 
 

Full Approval 04/09/2018 

P/18/0235 11 Gladstone Terrace 
Plymouth Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0UU 
 

Demolition of existing rear 
extension and erection of new 
single storey rear extension 

Full Approval 04/09/2018 

P/18/0236 23 Brecon Rise 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2BW 
 

Proposed two storey side 
extension 

Full Approval 03/09/2018 

P/18/0237 The Square Buildings 
Unit 1 
Merthyr Road 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4AN 
 

Change of use from a self-
contained flat to extend the retail 
area and other alterations 

Full Approval 04/09/2018 

P/18/0238 Highcroft 
Coedmeyrick Close 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1NZ 
 

Replace flat roof of garage with 
a pitched roof 

Full Approval 11/09/2018 

P/18/0243 Land Adjacent To  
17 Glendower Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of detached garage Full Approval 18/09/2018 

P/18/0244 Antelope Hotel 
83 High Street Caeharris 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3HB 
 

Change of use of first floor 
function room and toilet area to 
6 no. en suite room lets and 
creation of parking bays in rear 
curtilage with associated works 

Full Approval 12/09/2018 

  

Page 26



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/18/0246 16 Heol Nant Caiach 
Treharris 
CF46 5RZ 
 

Erection of single storey rear 
extension and first floor 
extension above existing 
garage, conversion of garage 
into living accommodation and 
erection of car port to side with 
associated drive 
 

Full Approval 11/09/2018 

P/18/0248 Vision Modular Systems 
UK Ltd 
Unit 19 
Merthyr Tydfil Industrial 
Park 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4DR 
 

Alterations and extensions to 
existing building 

Full Approval 13/09/2018 

P/18/0251 Castle View 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1NT 
 

Siting of a catering van and 
associated outside seating area 

Full Approval 25/09/2018 

P/18/0252 94 High Street 
Pontmorlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UH 
 

Painting of the shopfront Full Approval 11/09/2018 

P/18/0258 Ty Tonwen 
1 Winch Fawr Park 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TL 
 

Erection of conservatory to side 
of dwelling 

Full Approval 18/09/2018 

P/18/0265 Vision Modular Systems 
UK Ltd 
Unit 19 
Merthyr Tydfil Industrial 
Park 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4DR 
 

Increase height of existing 
single storey building and 
erection of extension to northern 
elevation 

Full Approval 27/09/2018 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 P/18/0199 - 34 Clos Penderyn, Ynysfach, Merthyr Tydfil
	4 P/18/0257  -  Land North Of Pant Industrial Estate, Bryniau Road, Pant, Merthyr Tydfil
	5 Appeal Received  -  P/18/0179
	6 Appeal Received  -  P/18/0192
	7 Delegated Report

